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PREFACE





I WAS JAMMED INTO a Tube train on my way home one night in 2009 when I saw my face in the paper being read by the man next to me. A little further along the District Line, the crowd thinned enough for me to open my own copy of the Evening Standard and read the story. It was accusing BBC executives of being overpaid, which was true, and aboard a gravy train, which was not an accurate description of my working day and my journey that evening. But the item was fair game: the BBC and its employees should be accountable. Those tend to be the introductions that most people, like my fellow Tube travellers, have to BBC executives; and in recent years the stories have been supplemented by the periodic crises that the corporation has endured. We became used to the idea that we might become the target of the moment as we watched colleagues becoming embroiled in controversies and sometimes defenestrated. Yet many of the commuters alongside me would be going home to watch BBC programmes, which mostly they would enjoy. The BBC has thrived in the digital age in a way that its critics didn’t expect, and it remains one of the world’s most successful public service broadcasters.


I first thought about writing this book when I myself experienced so vividly this contrast between the glories of the BBC and its profound lows. In 2012, I led the BBC’s coverage of the London Olympics, which was praised to the highest of heavens, and then I was one of the executive team during the Savile crisis as we saw our reputation plummet and the director-general obliged to resign. George Entwistle’s departure was marked on the front page of The Sun by the initials BBC spelling out ‘Bye Bye Chump’. With the passing of the years, which included my leaving the BBC and moving to become the head of a college in Cambridge, I wanted to give a sense of what it had been like in those times. Of course, BBC executives have written previously about what it’s like inside the corporation, but that was some years ago. I liked the idea of updating the narrative – taking in more recent developments in news and sport, along with an account of the experience of working on the Olympic Games. I hope I can best do that by telling my own story, and offering snapshots of the people I met, not only in my thirty-three years as a servant of the corporation but also before and after the BBC.


This is not, therefore, a treatise on BBC Charter renewal or the future of the licence fee. Those are matters for the new Conservative majority government and the corporation’s current leadership team. I trust that this book has some pointers about when the BBC is at its best, and I owe a lot myself to mentors who were evangelistic about journalistic rigour and a spirit of independence and intellectual challenge. I was inspired as an employee, and I continue to be captivated as a consumer, by programming with soaring ambition. I shy away from the mass-produced ‘stuff’ that merely fills a schedule; and I believe the BBC is most effective when it frees its staff to be creative, and resists the itch to control even more from the centre.


These are personal opinions, just as the book is my own narrative. There is consequently a health warning. You cannot get to the level I reached in the BBC without having detractors as well as supporters. Not everyone will agree with my view of events. But I was always cheered up when I was being criticised, internally or externally, by the realisation that it was my opponents who would sometimes portray me as unknowable or too much of a corporate politician. My friends, however, would always know precisely what I was up to, and they reprimanded me if I threw myself over-enthusiastically into the gamesmanship of BBC power. The news presenter Huw Edwards, for instance, had the uncanny ability to read my mood of the day without any contact with me. I would receive texts from him correctly analysing what I was thinking about a topic that he knew, by instinct, was on my mind. And this must surely be the right way round: imagine if you were transparent to your detractors but unreadable to your allies. So I am grateful every day for the profound friendships I have made in the BBC, and to the three godchildren I have acquired from colleagues, along with shared trips and holidays, food and drink. I couldn’t have kept going during the bad times without the comradeship and humour of friends and colleagues, and they were the people with whom I shared the proud moments too.


Many of those individuals have helped me in the writing of this book. I’d like to thank Les Sheehan, Michael Forte, Chris Rybczynski, Conrad and Annabel Walker, my agent Alex Armitage, George Entwistle, Dominic Coles, my cousins Brenda Hunter and Lucy Pilkington, Anthony Lewis, Michael Tilby the Vice-Master of Selwyn College, Simon Heffer, Joanna Manning-Cooper, Jackie Brock-Doyle, James and Eleanor Naughtie, John Humphrys, Dave Gordon, Mark Thompson, Mark Byford, Amanda Farnsworth, Lorraine Heggessey, Paul Reynolds and many more who read sections of the book and helped sharpen my memory of events. Memoirs by Kevin Marsh, Greg Dyke and John Birt were useful accounts of BBC times that I lived through, as was All Our Todays by Paul Donovan. Finally, I’m grateful to Iain Dale, my editor Olivia Beattie, and the team at Biteback for encouraging me to write the book I wanted to write, for which freedom I am deeply appreciative.
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CHAPTER 1


2012





FOR SEVEN YEARS I had known that 2012 would be the biggest year in my professional life. For the three years that I spent as the BBC’s director of London 2012, I was working towards just one goal: delivering a successful year of events for the BBC. What I could never have envisaged was that it would turn out to be such a combination of elation and dejection. In 2012 there were the proudest moments of my BBC career but also the ghastliest lows, during which I became certain that I needed to get out of the corporation.


When the New Year’s Eve fireworks signalled the start of London 2012, forming Olympic rings above the crowds lining the Thames, I felt a sense of relief that it was finally here. The story that had begun with the IOC making its choice of London seven years earlier was entering its final and most exciting stage. There was trepidation, too, about what lay ahead. Many of the public believed the Games would be a national embarrassment, and the easiest way of getting a laugh in a comedy show at that time was to predict what a dud London 2012 would be. Those of us involved in the planning realised the scale of what was being attempted in the intermittent chaos of our capital city, and I doubted that we would get through the summer without terrorism or transport chaos or public derision. So it was one of life’s most joyous surprises when London surpassed all expectations with the triumphs of its Olympic year, and the BBC shared the plaudits too. But only a few weeks later, BBC executives were clambering from the wreckage of one of the corporation’s worst crises.


One of the pleasures of being the director of London 2012 in the run-up to the Games was that I had little to do with BBC politics. There was more than enough real politics with the government, the mayor, the IOC and the rest. But through the first half of 2012 there was the background of the search for a new director-general, after the BBC Trust chairman Lord Patten had – unhelpfully for the incumbent Mark Thompson – signalled the start of the process in January. He had used a Times interview to reveal that headhunters were being employed to develop ‘a succession plan’, and he told the paper that the successful candidate would need ‘renaissance talents … It’s a big management job, it’s an editorial job, it’s a creative job and it’s an important part of our national culture. When the time comes, some people will crawl over broken glass to get the chance of doing it.’ Few of us on the management side had any doubt that this was Patten pushing the idea that it was time for Mark to go, and for himself as the new chairman to install his own man or woman. The curiosity was that we had always expected that Mark would leave after the Olympics anyway, and in March he confirmed that was his plan.


There was some amusing campaigning by the papabili. Caroline Thomson got herself profiled in The Guardian, cheerily telling colleagues at a management meeting that her mother loved the photo – while unprofiled colleagues seethed quietly. Caroline later made a rare visit to the BBC Olympics team to commune with the workers. ‘Supporters’ and ‘friends’ of Caroline and of Helen Boaden spoke to The Times about the case for a woman DG: one of the friends talked about men having ‘a game plan’ and ‘being ambitious’, which were apparently not characteristics of BBC women applying for the top job. George Entwistle did what BBC blokes do and announced an eye-catching restructuring of his division, while the sounds of whirring activity floated in as usual from Tim Davie. External candidates were beneath the radar, with only the Ofcom chief executive Ed Richards a fixture in the media speculation. It was predominantly long-standing staff members of the BBC who risked the broken glass.


After the first round of interviews, the only candidates we knew to be definitely still in the process were the internal duo of Thomson and Entwistle. In the early summer I shared a car back from an Olympic launch at Westminster with Mark Thompson, who was in relaxed and gossipy mode. He said he knew little about what was going on in the DG process but asked me who I favoured. ‘George’ was the unequivocal answer – because, I said, I thought he was clever and utterly decent and got the BBC, whereas Caroline had never struck me as being as commanding editorially. I had been George’s boss when he was editor of Newsnight, and we had kept in touch over the years as he moved between news, science and arts into ever more senior roles.


‘Any doubts about George?’ asked Mark, as we sat in a traffic jam in Piccadilly.


‘Only that he’s never been through a real storm,’ I said. This was not, in fact, entirely true: George had been caught up in the aftermath of the Hutton Inquiry in 2004 in a way I knew had been thoroughly unpleasant. But he had not been one of the main public characters to the extent that Greg Dyke or Richard Sambrook had, and the question was a real one: how would he, or anyone else, cope with the kind of mega-row that is pretty much inevitable in a BBC DG’s career? Mark Thompson was known for having the thickest of skins, and John Birt similarly. But George was kinder and more emotionally intelligent than the average broadcasting executive, and this was always my niggling doubt about his candidature for the top job.


It was reinforced while the DG race was still unresolved by the furore around the Diamond Jubilee pageant. In a weekend of generally very good coverage of the Jubilee – church service, concert and beacons – the Sunday river pageant broadcast was very bad indeed. It was not really anyone’s fault. The weather was terrible, causing technical problems for the outside broadcast. The mood of the programme, which might have worked on a sunny day, felt wrong from the start. The casting of the talent was not right. There were unforced errors in the presentation and commentary. This happens, and it was a collective failure for which I, as one of the members of the Jubilee steering group, will accept my share of blame. But since George was director of television, he was more obviously in the firing line and, from whatever inside sources, there was a repeated and ludicrous effort to get his name into the papers as the ‘Guilty Man’ who had ruined the Queen’s big day. This did need careful handling, but in the scale of BBC crises it was no more than ‘medium’. George, however, was unsettled by it – and from our conversations at the time I got the sense that he even considered pulling out of the DG race because of his sense of responsibility as the overall man in charge. This was noble but also way out of proportion for the offence, and he did not go through with it. But it confirmed my unease about George’s decency and the danger of the inevitable storms, even before the hurricane that hit us in the autumn.


The summer, though, was golden, and not just in Olympic Park. In early July, George got the job. To most of us inside he was so obviously the best candidate that there was rejoicing in the sane choice that Patten had made. I had not been making any calculations about my personal advantage because I had not been expecting to stay in the BBC after the Olympics. I didn’t have a job once 2012 was over, and anyone at my level of seniority is at the mercy of a new DG, who could have been from anywhere in the broadcasting spectrum. But I was delighted to be asked by George to act in his place as director of television – the biggest job apart from DG – until a permanent appointment was made, and it felt like the BBC was going to be run by ‘people like us’, which was a comforting thought as we took up residence in east London for the Olympics.


I could not have been happier in Games time about our brace of DGs. Mark had a whiff of freedom in his nostrils, and was the perfect supportive editor-in-chief, with the bounce and humour that represented him at his best. George was not taking over until September, so he was able to stick with big thoughts for the future rather than the daily agenda – and we also had a bit of fun going to watch the hockey, which is a sport he played as a teenager, and wandering through the crowds of the Olympic Park. I was proud to introduce him as our DG-designate to the sporting bigwigs and to our staff, without any hesitation about him being the right leader for the BBC after 2012. And everything went right for us: every day we got a sense of the marvellous legacy from leader Thompson and the gilded inheritance for leader Entwistle. The BBC game plan had worked. Our approval levels reached unimagined heights: more than 90 per cent of the population watched our coverage, and more than 90 per cent of those viewers said we had met or exceeded their expectations. The newspapers were universal in their praise. The sound of purring was to be heard from Broadcasting House.


I started in television headquarters on 20 August, just a week after the Olympics. I busied myself with familiarisation visits around the country, and I had occasional exchanges with George, who had taken his family to the United States on his final break before becoming DG in mid-September. During this period there was a steady reshaping at the top of the BBC: Caroline Thomson left with a large pay-off, to which she was contractually entitled and which was not seen at the time as controversial, and George thinned out the senior management team in the hope of making it less diffuse and more empowered than it had been under Mark. With hindsight, this created gaps when the crisis hit us. At the time, it seemed like a sensible reorganisation, and the first meeting of George’s management board was one of those heartening moments in the BBC when it felt like we had the right leadership, the right team and a determination to take the organisation forward.


The first warning we had in BBC television that something potentially nasty was about to break was when we received a request from ITV for the use of some footage of the BBC star Jimmy Savile for a documentary they were preparing. It was referred to television HQ because there was some question at a lower level about how any pictures might be used – a routine concern when content is being handed over to another broadcaster to use as they will. We decided to make available whatever ITV wanted because the approach appeared to be for a proper documentary programme, though we had no idea how serious it was going to be. The scale of what they had uncovered became apparent in the following days when the drumbeat of publicity for the programme signalled that they had a very important story indeed – and one that would rattle the foundations of the BBC.


As the transmission date for the ITV programme approached, the headlines agreed: Jimmy Savile would be revealed as a sex offender on a horrifying scale, and he had abused children, including ones he encountered during his work. But what brought the story up-to-date, and caused the crisis to centre around George and senior colleagues, was the revelation that Newsnight had been working on this story for the BBC in the autumn of 2011 – and it had failed to make the air. Worse still for our corporate reputation, we had broadcast tribute programmes to Jimmy Savile in the Christmas 2011 schedule. It was easy to write the narrative. Historically, the BBC had put a paedophile onto its most popular children’s show. Recently, the BBC had blocked its own story revealing the true Savile in the interests of protecting his reputation and that of the corporation – and went ahead with tributes despite knowing the worst. Most acutely for George, he had been the director of television when the Christmas programmes were broadcast; and now here he was as DG.


That narrative did, indeed, seize hold of the press with a ferocious intensity. It was what the public came to believe too, for perfectly understandable reasons. But internally we knew the linkage was simply not right; and I never for one moment believed that George, as director of television, or Helen Boaden, as director of news, or any of the other contemporary figures, had done anything significantly wrong. I, like them, had been in the BBC for decades and had never had any knowledge that Jimmy Savile was a paedophile. Was it credible that those people would know for certain that Savile was involved in paedophilia and suppress it? From a television point of view, was an archive clip programme of Jimmy Savile at the BBC really a reason to kill a Newsnight investigation? The idea was ludicrous to me and others, which may explain why we were slow off the mark in rebutting it; and in any case the most likely true reason about the events of 2011 – that this was an enormous cock-up in which there was miscommunication and misunderstanding – was not exactly one you could roll out with aplomb on the Today programme.


For George himself, the dagger at his heart was the disclosure that Helen had told him, briefly, that Newsnight was investigating Savile. To me, the crucial thing here was always that there is a difference between ‘we are investigating something’ – which happens with dozens of stories at any one time, few of which make it to air – and ‘we have discovered that Jimmy Savile was a paedophile’. For any broadcasting executive, there are hundreds of programme ideas floating around and lines from news stories in their heads, and spotting which one is the most toxic is not possible in a systematic way. I used to think as editor of the Today programme that it was almost never the 8 a.m. lead that ‘got’ you. It is the sweet little 6.50 a.m. filler, to which you pay little attention, that lands you in the dock of public opinion. However, George’s personality – atypically in television – was the introspective type that induced him to rack his brains for ways in which he might be responsible even in situations where he patently wasn’t, and I am certain that hobbled him through the whole of that dreadful autumn. Dealing with the crisis if he had not been personally dragged in might have been possible, but his own role made it a battle he was never going to win. He had some extraordinarily tough days.


We did try, though. The management board set up two inquiries into what had happened: the Pollard Review into the decisions around Newsnight, and the Dame Janet Smith investigation into past sexual misconduct in the BBC. As George said to me at the time, the Pollard Review was effectively set up by the DG to look at what the DG had done. What we did not realise in doing this was that we were creating processes that would preoccupy the BBC for literally years. Our aim with Pollard was to do something thorough and honest but on the lines of Will Wyatt’s report into ‘Queengate’ – an exemplary review of the row about the editing of a trailer featuring the Queen. This was not, after all, the most complex of issues. Pollard needed to answer one main question: why had the Newsnight investigation into Savile been discontinued? This might have been because of a flawed editorial decision, or it could have been because of inappropriate corporate pressure. We thought that this approach had been agreed by the management board, but somewhere along the route through the lawyers and on to the BBC Trust, it became something very different. A trustee described what we actually got as ‘quasi-judicial’. We never envisaged the courtroom-style interrogations, the indefensible strain put on individuals, or the fact that transcripts would be published. I and others were particularly upset by the treatment of the admirable Steve Mitchell. By contrast, Dame Janet’s report was always intended to be much more thorough, and it was right that there should be an accounting for the misconduct of previous decades. It was expected in early 2013, but in May 2015 it was announced that its publication had been delayed again – this time at the request of the Metropolitan Police.


The inflation of the Pollard Inquiry was accompanied behind the scenes by a bureaucracy that was, on occasion, agonisingly slow. There were battles between the management and the Trust about who owned the investigations, and every time we wanted to move forward we found ourselves wading through the treacle of having the executive board and the Trust both trying to second-guess the DG. One Friday when George wanted to update the media on what was happening, we had everything ready by lunchtime and a press conference about to be called; but we had to wait hours longer for sign-off of his key messages by the non-executive directors and by the trustees. We never knew what position Chris Patten was taking on a given day. George was, of course, his appointed man and there were times when Patten was reassuring. Other times we held our heads in our hands as his comments intensified the crisis while we were still battling to discover the facts and the true sense of its scale. It was ironic that, a year later, Patten criticised newspapers for their overwrought headlines about the BBC when the single most lurid one of the Savile affair – ‘a tsunami of filth’ – was contributed to the nation by Patten himself.


It was also apparent how thin we were at the senior level, which was something of an irony given that over-heavy management was an article of faith among our critics. The organisation still keenly missed its former deputy director-general Mark Byford, and Caroline Thomson had just departed. Helen Boaden was wounded like George. It had been announced that the finance director Zarin Patel was planning to leave. I was only acting as director of television, which was a huge job in itself, and made more difficult by ambitious underlings positioning themselves for the substantive role. Graham Ellis was in a similar position, acting as director of radio, because Tim Davie had gone off to Worldwide and was out of the public service mainstream. It felt very lonely indeed, and I had the sense that we were tiptoeing along a plank with shoals of sharks in the waters below.


The lack of clarity about who was in charge of the corporation was exemplified by a disagreement about the hiring of an external crisis management company. The BBC press office was under immense strain because of the volume of enquiries they were receiving, the shifting information they were getting from internal sources, and often the uncertainty of the corporate line. Paul Mylrea, the head of communications, therefore discussed with me whether we needed some extra help. He proposed that we bring in Brunswick, the communications specialist, who, crucially, would be able to add a more strategic view of how we were to get out of the mess we were in – and ease the pressure on the internal teams who were being crushed into the ground. It was likely that David Yelland, the former editor of The Sun and now a Brunswick partner, would be involved, and he had experience of supporting people at the centre of a storm. George and I and the senior team thought we should give it a go. It was an extra resource at a time when we sensed we were in an existential crisis. The preparations were made and we were about to invite Brunswick on board when the idea was vetoed by Chris Patten. He later told the Pollard Inquiry:




I thought to have David Yelland … being trooped through the newsroom at the BBC to brief the director-general … that seemed to me to be a seriously lousy story … While we were pressing him [George] to get a rather stronger team around him, the one thing we did suggest was that hiring Brunswick was not a very good idea.





Patten’s concern, we gathered, was specifically around the appearance George was about to make before a Commons committee. As someone experienced in the ways of Westminster, Patten believed that MPs would immediately ask whether he had been prepared for the hearing by an external firm; and they would jump on him if he admitted that we had brought in help. This was doubtless true, though we did not exactly avoid an even more ‘seriously lousy’ story throughout the autumn, and George’s appearance at the committee was a weak one, which might have been improved if he had had better coaching. But the wider point was about who was calling the shots. George was the chief executive, and in the view of the management team it was an operational decision, one that a CEO should have been able to take, if he wanted to bring in some communications advice. It was not, we believed, a function of the chairman of the Trust. He should have been allowed to castigate later if he felt a decision had been inappropriate, but he was not supposed immediately to overrule a decision taken in good faith.


Without the instant mechanism to create a stronger team around the DG, we failed to lift our heads from the daily struggle. During those dreadful weeks we were not able to reassert the values and the longer-term strategy of the BBC. Worse, we could not take on some of the more lurid media narratives because the detail of what had happened with the aborted Newsnight investigation was being dealt with by Nick Pollard’s review. The kind of question the Today programme wanted to ask any BBC executive was ‘What did Helen Boaden say to Peter Rippon, the editor of Newsnight?’, and that was a question we had assigned to Pollard to answer. Those who did venture onto the media, like the estimable David Jordan, the director of editorial policy, found themselves dragged into the crisis by the lack of agreement inside BBC News about the basic facts; and those facts were so hard to discern because the people who might have established them were all about to be interrogated by Pollard.


A little way into the furore, George asked me to be ‘Gold Commander’ of the BBC crisis management team with my long-standing colleague Dominic Coles as my deputy. This was an industry standard model introduced to the BBC by Mark Thompson, but understandably parodied as a title when the news emerged externally. It was not about second-guessing Pollard and trying to find out what had happened in the past. Rather, it was an attempt to keep the business of the corporation running. In this we were partly successful and partly not. The news about Savile had unleashed speculation about there possibly being a huge number of serious sex offenders within the BBC. The biggest nightmare was the one that did not happen: that we would discover paedophile activity from people currently working for the BBC in areas that gave them access to children. Every day, though, we received more and more allegations – some credible, some wildly implausible – that we had to review and decide how to process. All the serious ones went straight to the police, but we also had to navigate our way through potentially malicious accusations that would have destroyed the careers of innocent people. On the current evidence, I believe we got this right. However, any hope that launching the Pollard and Smith Inquiries would calm the crisis was misplaced. Every day something else went wrong: the wobbly performance by George at Westminster in front of a Commons select committee; discovering that the Newsnight editor’s blog aimed at setting the story straight had inaccuracies; and the internal strains caused by Panorama investigating the behaviour of its own bosses. It was right for Panorama to do that, but the madness of that autumn was encapsulated by a subsequent call from Newsnight to television HQ saying they were minded to do something about why we had scheduled Panorama so late at 10.35 p.m. – presumably, they said, because we wanted to bury bad news. As it often does in the worst of times, the BBC was in danger of eating itself alive.


We also knew, because it is the first rule of crisis management, that the biggest problem would be if something else happened. The focus on Savile meant that management was over-stretched, stressed and dog-tired. Every day the press office dealt with dozens of hostile enquiries, and barely an hour went past without an MP firing in another long letter full of allegations – all of which the BBC was constitutionally obliged to take seriously. People like me were dealing with the day job, too: how to handle a drama with a violent episode that resembled a current news story, or pay negotiations with star presenters, or whatever the day threw at us. In BBC News, the elastic was most obviously at risk of snapping: the people running the division were being undermined daily by events, and the BBC was also having to create complex referral lines to avoid any conflict of interest between a manager and the reporting of their role in the Savile affair. This stemmed from a good instinct: fastidious respect for journalistic independence. But it had the result that the people in news who would have spotted something nasty looming were shut out of the room when it really mattered. I still can’t quite believe that we somehow ended up with the directors in the nations – who were by definition hundreds of miles away from London – taking the editor-in-chief role on some days because everybody else was thought to be compromised.


I was on a brief holiday when Newsnight landed a second and fatal blow to the short career of George Entwistle as director-general. I had taken four days in Nice at the end of October as my first proper break since before the Olympics, in what seemed like a week’s lull. It is worth noting that as director of television I would not, in any case, have been consulted about Newsnight because it sat managerially within the news division. Instead, I arrived back home on Friday 2 November to find emails from the BBC requesting that all my Savile-related correspondence be handed in; telling me that I might be required as a witness at the Pollard Inquiry; and, with a lack of finesse that is characteristic of Human Resources, warning me that any testimony might be regarded as part of a disciplinary process. The infuriating thing here, of course, was that my only involvement with the Savile affair had been in trying to help sort it out once the story had broken – which meant that the BBC had created a double jeopardy. Not only was it seeking to investigate the people who had allegedly botched the Newsnight Savile story in 2011; it was now threatening to investigate the people investigating the matters that had arisen.


So that day passed in a mix of unpacking, shopping for food – and increasing grumpiness. I was now leaning strongly towards leaving the BBC as quickly as possible, and all I could see before me was more weeks of corporate paranoia and hell for individuals. I wrote, but didn’t send, a resignation letter. A colleague advised me, rightly, that this was not the time to abandon George. But I was simmering at the principle that trying to get stuck into the management of a crisis in itself made you vulnerable; and I had a night of lying awake until four in the morning with my mind trying to remember every email I had written in the past few weeks on the subject of Savile and also concocting unusual tortures for the folk in Legal and Personnel who were fuelling the investigation.


It turned out to be the wrong reason for a sleepless night. I was never called as a witness by Pollard, but just before bed I had seen the Newsnight report on a senior Conservative who had allegedly been associated with child abuse. I remember thinking it was a bit thin as a report, plus there was the obvious risk of jigsaw identification – where information in different places, in this case TV and the internet, can be added together in a way that identifies an individual. But after what the BBC had gone through, and after Newsnight’s particularly searing experiences, I never imagined that the story itself would be wrong – or that it would be so easy to unravel it.


The following week back at work was a false calm between two storms. At the senior management level, none of us heard the time bomb ticking underneath Broadcasting House. Only later did we find out that awareness was spreading in BBC News that Newsnight had dropped an almighty clanger. George himself was feeling more chipper, and a lot of the focus of his week was giving a speech at an international broadcasting conference on Friday 9 November. That was also the day I was in London hosting a board meeting of the European Broadcasting Union. And it was the day The Guardian published as its front-page splash the news that Newsnight’s big investigation was actually based on a case of mistaken identity: it simply wasn’t true. Lord McAlpine, the senior Conservative who was the intended target of the report, was blameless.


The initial fire-fighting – and the depressingly short quest to find out whether The Guardian was right or not – was being tackled by the DG’s office and BBC News, with an increasingly agitated BBC Trust demanding answers. I was deep in soporific EBU discussions about the future of public service media in Europe with a series of directors-general, so I was unable to join in any meetings or receive any calls; but as the day wore on my mobile throbbed with messages from friends and colleagues saying this looked very bad indeed and the BBC needed to take immediate and drastic action.


I extricated myself from the EBU and spoke to George around teatime. He was under no illusions about the gravity of what had happened, and he already had a list of actions he intended to take; but the Trust’s fury had grown to the level that some of its members were demanding the management remove Newsnight from the airwaves – in an echo of the move News International had made against the News of the World. As we talked, George and I could see a small advantage in this. It was certainly shock and awe: what Murdoch does is one thing, but for a BBC director-general to shut a flagship programme would be a big play. It would also be the best thing for George to do in keeping the Trust on side. However, as we talked we also realised it would be barmy. The News of the World was riddled with systemic breaches of ethics and the law, whereas Newsnight had had one aborted investigation in December 2011 and one dreadful piece of reporting in November 2012. More to the point, as director of television I couldn’t contemplate BBC Two not having a nightly news and current affairs programme – especially not at a time when Newsnight was itself a story. What would we have put on air on Monday at 10.30 p.m. where Newsnight had been?


George and I agreed that the best thing was to summon a meeting of the executive board. By this stage it was 7 p.m. on a Friday evening and people were scattered all over the place, which meant it had to be by phone. I myself had a commitment to a leaving dinner for my long-serving PA, Elaine Gold. In the event, Elaine and I had about twenty minutes of intermittent conversation while for the best part of two hours she was left on her own as I took part in conference calls in a courtyard just off Oxford Street. My pan-seared cod died in vain.


On the conference call, some of the board were attracted to the drama of axing Newsnight, but there was a trio of George, myself and David Jordan who argued it would be a short-term gain for long-term pain. That view won the day, but we still came up with a robust set of measures. Newsnight that night would apologise unreservedly. There would be a swift investigation of what had happened by a senior director. We would take disciplinary action against the people who had let down the BBC, and, if need be, heads would roll. We would suspend all further programmes involving the independent investigative journalism outfit who had worked on the McAlpine story – and overall this would be, in desperate circumstances, a chance for George to underline that he was in charge and was a fully functioning chief executive.


But we also knew that we were making his position with the Trust even more precarious. George called me after the board discussion in a calm and thoughtful mood but his conclusion was clear: ‘Keeping Newsnight could cost me my job.’ Given that he was uncertain of Lord Patten’s support as the Savile crisis intensified, George was right that going against a number of trustees on Newsnight seemed unlikely to be a good career move. And that was probably why he chose to ‘front up’ the management response to the McAlpine catastrophe, and told the board that he would go on the Today programme the following morning to set out the actions he was taking.


Did this ring alarm bells? Yes and no. On the one hand, George had been in better shape in recent days – and he had been impressive in leading the discussions that evening. But I suppose those of us who supported him, and knew how much was at stake, also realised that this was double or quits. He had done the Today programme twice already in his short time as DG, and if he couldn’t survive another Today interview as editor-in-chief about a major editorial issue, on which we’d got a clear and rational management response, then the game was up. He was right that, at this moment of BBC crisis, the leadership could come only from him. If he had disappeared and sent out a surrogate, the game would have been over too.


My last chat with him on the Friday night was just after ten o’clock, when a new mini-crisis erupted. I was called by network presentation because Newsnight were refusing to include the apology within their programme and were asking for it to be read before the show by a continuity announcer instead. Little did they know that the future of their entire programme was at stake that night. I made it clear to them, somewhat forcibly, that an apology within Newsnight meant within Newsnight not before Newsnight, and another small disaster was averted – which I told George about in a ‘guess what the daft arses have tried to do now’ fashion. I also agreed to take any calls for him late at night because he needed to get to his son’s 18th birthday party, which was underway without him.


The next morning I listened, along with the rest of the chattering classes, to the car crash that was George’s interview with John Humphrys. It was the first time I wasn’t able to summon up an immediate text response to one of his media interviews. I could not think of anything helpful to say about it, and I therefore left it a couple of hours before sending a feeble ‘How are things?’ and expecting he would send his customary honest response when something had not gone to plan.


There was no reply. This was unusual but not unprecedented, and I had no idea that events were moving so rapidly to a conclusion – with the Trust’s patience at an end because of the Today debacle compounding the disobeying of some of their views on Newsnight. It was also a Saturday, an unusual day for Trust activity; and I was due to go to a match at Arsenal, where I have season tickets, with Gabriel Walker, one of my godsons, fifteen at the time. This meant an afternoon of surrogate parenting: picking him up at Waterloo, feeding him, entertaining him through the highs and lows of Arsenal and then getting him home.


Bothered by George’s silence, I texted him again on the way to the Emirates Stadium, asking if he wanted a chat. But by the time I had got there, and had bought Gabriel his favoured footlong hot dog, there was an email from the DG’s office saying that we should be on standby for another executive board conference call that afternoon – most likely at 4 p.m. This did not look good.


I calculated the place in the stadium concourse where I could take part in a call in relative privacy, and texted George once more to see if I could offer any help. By this stage I had no doubt, really, that it was all over. Piecing things together afterwards, I discovered there had been a phone conference involving George and the Trust in the late morning. It was, he told me later, apparent that he had lost the confidence of some, or even most, of the trustees, who argued that his package of measures was not enough. Some had pressed again for Newsnight to be scrapped. What followed was a one-to-one conversation, in which Patten’s later public account is in harmony with George’s recollection: that the chairman was not urging George to go, but he was also not urging him to stay. George then offered his resignation, and the discussions turned to his contractual entitlements – otherwise known as the pay-off. I blame him not one jot for seeking to protect his family and reputation to the best of his ability in dreadful personal circumstances, and I suspect almost everyone else in that situation would have had the same negotiations about the ending of their employment.


The conversations between lawyers continued. The emails to the rest of us kept pushing back the time of the executive board call, and I could see no better option than taking Gabriel back to his parents and going for a (large) drink with them on the South Bank. I had not intended to eat out, but Conrad and Annabel thought the best thing was to propel me into dinner with them and pour some more wine down me – which is why, when the executive board finally convened just before 9 p.m., again with people scattered all over the country, my own location was outside a branch of Brasserie Blanc with the phone on ‘mute’ to shut out the noise of Saturday-night revellers.


George made a brief, dignified statement that his resignation would be announced shortly, and a couple of us paid tribute to him. In doing so, the sadness flooded over me: George’s decency and intelligence were sorely needed by the BBC, and it was the cruellest of outcomes that someone so full of promise for the future should have been destroyed by the evils of the past, which were none of his doing. Shortly afterwards I walked to the railway station, and on board the train home to Richmond I composed a tweet: ‘I’m deeply, deeply sad that George Entwistle has resigned. He is a good, honourable man and I’m proud to call him a friend.’ I am pleased I did that then, and I believe it even more now.


The next day it was a case of ‘the King is dead; long live the temporary King’. Tim Davie was asked to act as director-general, which my kitchen cabinet and I had predicted. Also on that miserable Sunday morning, we spotted that there was an extra torment possible for me. If, as seemed likely, Helen Boaden would be sidelined from BBC News until the Pollard Inquiry was completed, they would need someone else to run news in the interim. As one of the tiny number of people left standing, and a former news executive, there was a finger pointing in my direction. I talked to a range of friends about ‘what if…?’ We all agreed: it would be the triple-strength poisoned chalice. To add to my temporary incumbency of television, with no full-time job on offer, I would be ushered into the lion’s den of news without any long-term authority and with a director sitting unjustly in the wings. Head and heart came to the same conclusion: that the only sensible course was to dodge the lions and decline the chalice, though I also knew that, as a corporation man, it would be the first time I had said ‘no’ to a role that the top bosses wanted me to take.


The call came on my mobile around teatime as I trudged back from Richmond town centre with darkness falling. It was Lucy Adams, the likeable head of Human Resources, asking me to take on BBC News. I felt a bit sorry for her in retrospect but I was proud of myself that I came out with the direct answer: ‘No.’ I explained this was a combination of it being the wrong thing professionally, because a temping role would never have enough credibility to sort out news, and equally bad for me personally. I just didn’t want to do it. She sounded taken aback, probably because the glad tidings of my move were about to be announced to an emergency meeting of the Trust, and we agreed that Tim would call me later. I said the same to him, and to his credit he took it with more magnanimity than I might have done if the roles had been reversed. Fran Unsworth was asked to do the job instead, which was a much better outcome given that she was already within BBC News and it was simply a case of stepping up from her existing role.


This was not quite the end of my BBC career. I didn’t leave until September 2013, and there were occasional brighter interludes after the storms of that autumn. But as someone who had worked in the BBC for more than thirty years, and who had always believed in it as an organisation, there was a terrible sadness about seeing it so exposed and internally riven. The Savile crisis was first and foremost about a wicked man and his victims. What was uncovered about the past was deeply distressing. But it was also a crisis of the modern BBC.


There were many institutions tainted by Savile. The particular focus on the BBC was because it had created him as a national figure and sustained his popularity. It then had the additional misfortune of bringing the past evils into the present with the aborted Newsnight investigation. We handled that poorly, and we dealt with the consequences of that decision ineptly.


But in losing George as DG, and in the onslaught that many executives faced, it could hardly be argued that the old clichés applied: it was not ‘assistant heads will roll’. Rather, it was a decapitation at the top of the organisation, and of someone who was later exonerated of the main charge against him. Helen Boaden was cleared too. The big question for Pollard was: ‘Had there been improper conduct to suppress the Newsnight report on Savile?’ and the answer was unequivocal. He concluded: ‘The decision to drop the original investigation was flawed and the way it was taken was wrong but I believe it was done in good faith. It was not done to protect the Savile tribute programmes or for any improper reason.’


These events were a personal tragedy for George Entwistle. The irony is that when the process for appointing the DG was running, earlier than expected, the Savile documentary was in preparation over at ITV. It was a bomb primed to go off in the early autumn of 2012, and on the original timings it might have detonated in the closing months of Mark Thompson’s director-generalship. Instead, it exploded in the face of the new man in the job. Someone who had been in the role for seven years might have been able to ride out the storm. George would have had a fighting chance if he had been a couple of years into his leadership of the BBC, but he had little protection when the biggest crisis in years landed just two weeks into his tenure.


You always hope that in adversity colleagues will come together to support each other, and that a corporation will throw its arms around the employees who are doing their jobs to the best of their ability. That did not happen with Savile, or with the Hutton Report eight years earlier, or in other bruising episodes that saw executives depart. This was sometimes for good reasons – public accountability has to come first – and sometimes for bad. When the stress tests have been at their most extreme, the corporation has tended to fracture rather than unite. There is an additional jeopardy in the BBC’s structures, and in the separation between management and the governors or the Trust. This seems to have got worse, as the subsequent meltdown in management–Trust relations over pay-offs showed.


I reflected on some of this in my farewell interview with the BBC staff magazine, Ariel: ‘The point is that the BBC is about a collective endeavour – most decisions are collective. Individuals do make mistakes, and there’s accountability for that, but unless they’ve made completely bonkers, reckless decisions, they should be supported. For the most part, they are people doing the best they can.’ I could have added that critics needed to take a wider view too. Many of the people at the heart of the Savile affair were the ones who, only weeks earlier, were part of the team that had successfully delivered the Olympic Games.


From this greater distance, it is easier to see that the BBC is, thankfully, a resilient organisation. Tony Hall immediately brought maturity to the DG’s office, and the glories of the corporation’s programme-making remain. I will always be grateful to the BBC for the opportunities it gave me. But the autumn of 2012 was a dreadful time; and I saw good people being added to the list of senior colleagues who had departed feeling battered by what had happened to them. Sometimes they might have been wrong to feel aggrieved. At other times it felt as if the difference between survival or resignation was whether you happened to have read a specific email or not. The sense that you could be next in line for the ducking stool of public opinion was not a pleasant feeling, and it was shared by many. I therefore feel lucky that I left on a relative high – that, after decades of doing some of the BBC’s most scrutinised jobs, I got out alive.
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CHAPTER 2


BRADFORD





IHAVE ALWAYS SAID I was born in Bradford in Yorkshire, but that isn’t true. I was born in a mothers-and-babies home in Warrington, on the other side of the Pennines. Bradford came six weeks later when I was adopted, and when I was issued with a new birth certificate. My natural parents were from St Helens, and they did something obvious and then something unusual for the 1950s. My mother became pregnant – but her boyfriend, for reasons we can only guess at, didn’t do what boys usually did in those times. He didn’t marry her. And that’s why she ended up giving birth to me in secret and away from home, and why I was immediately put up for adoption.


My natural mother called me Stephen during the three weeks we were together in the January of 1958. ‘Roger’ came from my adoptive parents. Ending up with the surname ‘Mosey’ was a somewhat random process because my adoptive father wasn’t born a Mosey: that was the name of his mother’s second husband, who adopted my dad when he was ten or so.


It sounds like the recipe for an identity crisis, but in Yorkshire – which runs through my blood as surely as if I had been born there – you just get on with it. I was told when I was very young that I had been adopted, but until I was in my twenties I never talked about it outside the family and it was only in my late thirties that I asked to see my original birth certificate. This was accompanied by the social worker’s report from 1958 with the few sketchy lines I know about my natural parents. But when I was interviewed for the role of Master of Selwyn College, I felt secure enough to tell them about my families’ histories, and my relatives, blood and adopted, who were miners and train drivers and farmers and shop assistants. They would never have dreamed that their offspring would even get to university let alone make it to senior roles within the BBC and end up being head of a Cambridge college. ‘Talk sense and I’ll talk to you’ would have been my grandfather’s response to those kind of ideas.


What I regard as my real family – my life with the people who adopted me – was reasonably conventional. My parents ran a sub-post office in Bradford at the end of a terrace of Yorkshire stone houses halfway up the hill from the city centre to the suburb of Undercliffe. I was pushed in my pram around the nearby Victorian cemetery with its spectacular mausoleums from the age when Bradford was the wool capital of the world. In our shop we sold tobacco and sweets and greetings cards, and a photograph of the time shows my mother displaying the calendars that were a special line for Christmas. My aunt and uncle ran a larger sub-post office, this time supplemented by a travel agency, a few hundred yards nearer the bottom of the hill. It was a poor, inner-city area with densely packed back-to-back houses, many of which were demolished in the late 1960s; within it, shopkeepers were the relative aristocracy. But we never had much money spare, and the working hours for my parents were long. On Saturday nights I was plonked in front of the TV to watch Doctor Who while the weekly accounts were calculated, with happiness if they all balanced and disaster if there was a missing pound or two.


Nowadays, Bradford’s glories are its hills and valleys. In the early 1960s, you could seldom see them. My memories of the city’s panoramas are of smoke from the mill chimneys mingling with the northern rain or fog to create a dispiriting murk, with only a windy and bright day opening up the views. I turned five during the brutal winter of 1962/63, which allowed daily sledging down the slopes of our local park but also brought ice on the inside of the house windows, and paraffin heaters struggling and failing to warm the bedrooms. I had bronchitis as a child, and no wonder, given the brew of pollution and bitter cold.


We explored Yorkshire on sunny, happier days. Along with the children of relatives and friends, I was loaded into a car – we had one of the early Minis – and we would go out for a ‘motor-run’: up into the Dales, with particular excitement about gated roads or crossing fords, across to see family friends in York, sometimes making it as far as Scarborough or Bridlington. The family photos show me as a blond-haired little fellow, carefully picking his way across the stepping stones of the River Wharfe at Bolton Abbey or looking alarmed by a hefty cow at the Bingley Show. We had a dog, a grumpy Corgi inaccurately called Chummy. Despite being an only child, I was never lonely – though I developed a reputation for being at my happiest when I was engrossed in a book without the need for any more company.


But I liked going along to sports events. My first football match was about as low-key as it gets, at the crumbling Bradford Park Avenue; we switched to Bradford City when Park Avenue went out of the league. However, my dad and family friends were promiscuous in their football tastes and we went to Leeds United during their Revie glory days and to Huddersfield Town when they were in the First Division. At Elland Road we had cheap tickets for behind the goal, and a small wooden stool was taken along for me to be able to see the pitch from the sunken terracing at the front of the stand. We watched cricket at Park Avenue and Harrogate and Headingley, and I was devoted to Geoffrey Boycott and the great Yorkshire sides of the 1960s. In Rugby League it was Bradford Northern, and my parents’ badge of sporting pride was that they had been at Odsal Stadium for the Challenge Cup final replay in 1954, with its record crowd of more than 102,000.


My first school was Hanson Infants’, just along the road from the lower post office. I made my own way there even at the age of five or six, taking the bus down the hill and then sometimes meeting my cousins Brenda and Lucy for the final part of the journey. There were journeys home on autumn nights when pea-souper fog, mixed with the city’s trademark smoke and soot, meant you could barely see your own feet. The school was ethnically mixed because Bradford, a melting pot from the days of Irish immigration in the nineteenth century, had been one of the destinations for Pakistani migrants in the early 1960s. One of my friends was a boy called Tanvir Ashgar, whose parents were from Lahore and whose dad drove a city bus. His mother used to stroke my fair hair when I went to collect him on the way to school, and my family managed to be both personally courteous and interested in their different lifestyle while still disapproving of immigration in general. My granddad thought Alf Garnett was spot-on in his political views, and didn’t regard Till Death Us Do Part as satirical in any sense, though he declared himself to be a Liberal all his life, as his generation of Yorkshire non-conformists traditionally did.


At the age of eight I sat the entrance exam for Bradford Grammar School, and later won a City of Bradford scholarship, which meant that my tuition was free. All the rest of my school education was there, but I would say I have a respect for BGS rather than a deep love. On the plus side, the school was academically strong in those days, and a few teachers were outstanding. When I was twelve, my English teacher gave me The French Lieutenant’s Woman to read as an addition to the curriculum, and that and other novels that he suggested made me adventurous in literature. When I was sixteen, an exceptional teacher transformed history from learning by rote into something with academic rigour and the exciting exploration of sources, and set me up well for university. I made lifelong friendships there – notably my oldest friend Conrad Walker and the next-in-line Michael Forte (né Blackburn), who remain key members of my kitchen cabinet: the friends I rely on for advice and support. On the negative side, all-boys northern grammar schools of that age had their grim side and were not good at freeing up the mind: we were at risk of emerging with lots of O and A levels but not much creative energy. Music and art were for wimps; and for those not naturally talented at sport, like me, it seemed that ‘Games’ was a punitive and unpleasant part of the timetable. The school was divided, it seemed, between rugby players and non-rugby players, and I was firmly in the latter category.
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